

1 **Soft anatomy and morphological variation in *Daptomys peruviansis* (Rodentia,**
2 **Cricetidae), a rare ichthyomyine from the northwestern Amazonian forests**

3 Jorge Brito¹, Mateo A. Vega-Yáñez^{1,2,3}, Jhandry P. Guaya-Ramos¹, Melanie Polo¹, Claudia
4 Koch⁴, Nicolás Tinoco^{1,5}, Ulyses F. J. Pardiñas^{1,6}

5

6 ¹ Instituto Nacional de Biodiversidad (INABIO), Quito, Ecuador

7 ² Universidad San Francisco de Quito USFQ, Colegio de Ciencias Biológicas y Ambientales
8 COCIBA, Maestría en Ecología Tropical y Conservación, Quito, Ecuador

9 ³Universidad San Francisco de Quito USFQ, Colegio de Ciencias Biológicas y Ambientales
10 COCIBA, Laboratorio de Biología Evolutiva, Campus Cumbayá, Quito, Ecuador

11 ⁴Leibniz Institute for the Analysis of Biodiversity Change/Museum Koenig, Bonn, Germany

12 ⁵Sección de Mastozoología, Museo de Zoología, Facultad de Ciencias Exactas y Naturales,
13 Pontificia Universidad Católica del Ecuador, Quito, Ecuador

14 ⁶Instituto de Diversidad y Evolución Austral (IDEAUS-CONICET), Puerto Madryn, Chubut,
15 Argentina

16

17 Corresponding author: Jorge Brito

18 Email address: jorgeyakuma@yahoo.es

19

20

21

22 **Abstract**

23 The recently resurrected genus *Daptomys* Anthony, 1929, includes poorly known small
24 cricetid rodents that are widely distributed in tropical South America. Along with
25 *Neusticomys* Anthony, 1921, these species are the most terrestrial members of the
26 sigmodontine tribe Ichthyomyini, which is otherwise distinguished by adaptations that
27 allow species to live in both aquatic and terrestrial environments. Newly collected
28 Ecuadorean specimens provide the first observations of the craniodental and soft anatomy of
29 *Daptomys*, focusing on rhinarium morphology, soft palate, stomach, caecum configuration,
30 and other features. In addition, the phylogeny presented here, combined with species
31 distribution models, suggests a simplified taxonomy indicating that *Daptomys peruviansis*
32 (Musser & Gardner, 1974) has a wide distribution extending from Venezuela to Peru. In this
33 novel scenario, *Daptomys mussoi* (Ochoa & Soriano, 1991) would be a junior synonym of *D.*
34 *peruviansis*, and the application of a trinomial taxonomy appears premature.

35

36 **INTRODUCTION**

37 Among the lesser-known members of the specialized tribe Ichthyomyini, which includes
38 living sigmodontines with unusual adaptations for preying on small animals by diving in rapid
39 and cold freshwater environments (e.g., *Voss 1988, 2015; Salazar-Bravo et al., 2023*), are
40 those classified in *Daptomys* Anthony, 1929. This genus, recently resurrected from the
41 synonymy of *Neusticomys* Anthony, 1921, supposedly encompasses six species (*Salazar-*
42 *Bravo et al., 2023*). These small sigmodontines, weighing less than 50 grams as adults, are
43 widely distributed in eastern Andean forests and the Amazon Basin. Their more generalized
44 body morphology, which reflects fewer adaptations to an aquatic lifestyle than seen in other
45 tribal members, may explain this distribution. Additionally, ichthyomyines apparently have

Deleted: ichthyomyines

Deleted: forms

Deleted: this

Deleted: have

Deleted: d

Commented [A1]: Not true. Voss (1988) scored craniodental and soft anatomical characters of *D. venezuelae*

Commented [A2]: Not true. Voss (1988) scored *D. venezuelae* for multiple characters of craniodental and soft anatomy

Deleted: extreme

Commented [A3]: Not always

Deleted: under

Deleted: Eastern

Deleted: basin

Deleted: extreme

56 been restricted to the region north of the Andes for about half of their evolutionary history,
57 and their wide geographic and environmental range suggests a relatively recent diversification
58 event (Salazar-Bravo *et al.*, 2023).

Commented [A4]: = Central America? Do you mean the northern Andes?

59 Of the various named and unnamed forms attributed to *Daptomys*, *D. peruviansis*
60 (Musser & Gardner, 1974) is one of the least known. It is restricted to fewer than 10 recorded
61 localities, mostly in Peru (Musser & Gardner, 1974; Solari *et al.*, 2006; Medina *et al.*, 2015;
62 Gonzales *et al.*, 2017; Pacheco *et al.*, 2020). Recently, its taxonomy was revised to include
63 the trinomial designation *D. peruviansis musseri* Pacheco & Sánchez-Vendizú, 2020,
64 distinguishing a sample from northeastern Amazonian Peru (Pacheco *et al.*, 2020). Despite
65 this systematic addition and the description of several other congeneric species, almost
66 nothing beyond classical external and craniodental morphology is known about these mice.

Deleted: recording

Deleted: raising

Commented [A5]: Carleton (1973) described stomach morphology of *D. venezuelae*, and Voss (1988) described or scored this species for characters of the philtrum, soft palate, gall bladder, and baculum

67 Here, we report new specimens from Ecuador, confirming and extending the known
68 geographical range of *D. peruviansis* within the country (Tirira, Reid & Engstrom, 2018;
69 Salazar-Bravo *et al.*, 2023). The study of these materials has allowed for the first description
70 of several traits related to soft anatomy, as well as novel details of craniodental morphology
71 obtained through non-invasive techniques. Furthermore, the resolved phylogenetic position of
72 these samples, along with potential distribution models, highlights the necessity to adjust the
73 current classificatory scheme for this and other entities within the genus.

74 **Materials & Methods**

75 **Studied specimens**

76 The new Ecuadorean specimens studied here were collected during field trapping expeditions
77 conducted in 2022 and 2023 by the senior author and collaborators at the localities of Piatua
78 (1°12'18.32"S, 77°57'10.22"W, 813 m, Provincia de Pastaza; geographical coordinates with
79 WGS84 datum recorded by GPS at the trap line) and Chawalyaku (1°30'37.87"S,

78°7'21.00"W, 1175 m, Provincia de Morona Santiago). The animals were obtained from pitfall traps set in a dense montane forest. At each locality, two lines of 10 buckets (20 liters each) were established. These lines remained active for 10 consecutive days, totaling 400 pitfall trap nights. Research permits were obtained from the Ministerio del Ambiente, Agua y Transición Ecológica de Ecuador (scientific research authorization No MAATE-ARSFC-2022-2583, and MAATE-DBI-CM-2023-0334). The collected animals were euthanized following standard procedures (Sikes et al. 2016), measured fresh, and preserved as carcasses with skins and skeletons cleaned and housed at the mammal collection of the Instituto Nacional de Biodiversidad (INABIO, Quito, Ecuador; acronym MECN). In addition, the specimen MECN 6629 from the Cordillera del Cóndor (3°45'25.78"S, 78°30'3.80"W, 1406 m) reported as *Daptomys* sp. in Salazar-Bravo et al. (2023) and Pardiñas et al. (2024), was included in the analyzed samples for this contribution.

Commented [A6]: 800-1175 m might more accurately described as premontane

The novel Ecuadorean material was identified as *Daptomys peruviansis* after genetic confirmation (see below). The morphological analysis of these individuals followed the concepts described by Voss (1988), Carleton & Musser (1989), Pacheco et al. (2020), and Salazar-Bravo et al. (2023) for general external and craniodental anatomy; Pardiñas et al. (2024) for rhinarium; Quay (1954) and Carleton (1980) for soft palate; Carleton (1973) for stomach; and Vorontsov (1967) for caecum. External and craniodental measurements of the new specimens were taken according to the dimensions explained in Pacheco et al. (2020) to ensure the comparability of the results.

X-ray micro CT

Detailed information on cranial and mandibular morphology was obtained through a high-resolution X-ray micro-computed tomography scan (micro-CT) of the skull of MECN 8072 with a Bruker SkyScan 1173 (Kontich, Belgium) at the Leibniz Institute for the Analysis of Biodiversity Change, Museum Koenig (LIB, Bonn, Germany). To avoid movements during

Deleted: the
Deleted: um
Deleted: mandible

110 scanning, the skull was placed in a small plastic container and embedded in cotton wool.
111 Acquisition parameters comprised: An X-ray beam with a source voltage of 53 kV and a
112 current of 124 μ A, without the use of a filter; 960 projections of 600 ms exposure time each
113 with a frame averaging of 4; rotation steps of 0.25° recorded over a 180° continuous rotation,
114 resulting in a scan duration of 58 min; and a magnification setup generating data with an
115 isotropic voxel size of 15.97 μ m. The CT-dataset was reconstructed with N-Recon software
116 version 1.7.1.6 (Bruker MicroCT, Kontich, Belgium) and rendered in three dimensions using
117 CTVox for Windows 64 bits version 3.0.0 r1114 (Bruker MicroCT, Kontich, Belgium).

118 **Molecular data**

119 DNA extraction, PCR amplification, and sequencing with Oxford Nanopore Technologies
120 were performed at the Nucleic Acid Sequencing Laboratory belonging to the INABIO. DNA
121 was extracted from liver samples using the GeneJET Genomic DNA Purification Kit
122 (K0722). Amplification was achieved through Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR) using the
123 primers MVZ05 and MVZ16 (*Smith & Patton, 1993*), and the GoTaq® Green Master Mix 2X
124 kit to amplify the cytochrome b (Cyt b) sequence. PCR conditions included initial
125 denaturation at 95°C for 2 minutes, followed by 35 cycles of 95°C for 30 seconds, 45°C for
126 30 seconds, and 72°C for 80 seconds, with a final extension at 72°C for 5 minutes. The
127 expected amplicon length was approximately 1200 bp. The mitochondrial Cyt b marker was
128 sequenced using a MinION Mk1C with Flongle Flow Cells R10.4.1 and the Rapid Barcoding
129 Kit 96 (SQK-RBK114.96), following standard protocols. Data was high-accuracy (HAC)
130 basecalled. The resulting FASTQ files were filtered at a Q score of 9, and consensus
131 sequences were produced with NGSpeciesID (*Sahlin et al., 2021*). A total of 36 sequences
132 were used for phylogenetic analysis. Available Cyt b sequences of closely related individuals
133 and additional outgroup sequences were obtained from GenBank
134 (<http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genbank/>). The alignment was performed using the MAFFT

algorithm in Mesquite version 3.81 (Maddison & Maddison, 2023) to edit and concatenate alignments. A maximum-likelihood tree was generated in IQ-TREE (Trifinopoulos et al., 2016) under default settings. Genetic distances for *Daptomys* were calculated in MEGA 11 (Kimura, 1980) based on the Kimura 2-parameter model.

Species Distribution Model

We retrieved 11 recording localities of *D. peruviansis* from literature (Musser & Gardner, 1974; Pacheco & Vivar, 1996; Gonzales et al., 2017; Tirira, Reid & Engstrom, 2018; Salazar-Bravo et al., 2023), which were geographically validated, in addition to the three new records from Ecuador (i.e., Chawalyaku, Cordillera del Cóndor, and Piatua) that were included in the species distribution modeling. The bioclimatic variables were downloaded from WorldClim v2.1 at a spatial resolution of approximately 4.6 km² (Fick & Hijmans, 2017). The variables used in the models were selected with the R package usdm (Naimi et al., 2014) based on the variance inflation factor (VIF), using a threshold of 0.7 to reduce collinearity between variables (Marquardt, 1970; De Marco & Nóbrega, 2018). According to that analysis, the following variables were selected: bio2 (mean diurnal range (mean of monthly (max temp - min temp))), bio3 (Isothermality (bio2/bio7) (×100)), bio4 (Temperature seasonality (standard deviation ×100)), bio8 (Mean temperature of wettest quarter), bio13 (Precipitation of wettest month), bio14 (Precipitation of driest month), bio18 (Precipitation of warmest quarter), and bio19 (Precipitation of coldest quarter). Moreover, the occurrence data were randomly divided into two sets: 70% for calibration and 30% for validation. Additionally, using the ecospat package (Broennimann, Di Cola V & Guisan, 2023), we generated pseudo-absences for training and test occurrences following Castelblanco-Martínez et al. (2021). These pseudo-absences were created within the area M (Soberon & Peterson, 2005), which in our case corresponds to the Amazon River basin. With the R package sdm (Naimi & Araujo, 2016) we used six modeling algorithms: CART (Classification and

Regression Trees), GAM (Generalized Additive Model), GLM (Generalized Linear Model), Maxent (Maximum entropy), RF (Random Forest), and SVM (Support Vector Machine). For the models, 5-folds of cross-validation, 10 bootstrapping and 10 replicates were generated for each algorithm. Finally, each model was evaluated based on true skill statistic (TSS) and omission rate (Allouche, Tsoar & Kadmon, 2006; Li & Guo, 2013) to build a consensus ensemble model of *D. peruviansis*.

Results and discussion

Genetic (cytb) structure and distances

The three new Ecuadorean specimens were closely grouped with two sequences of *D. peruviansis musseri* from Loreto (Peru). This clade was sister to a sequence of *Daptomys mussoi* (Ochoa & Soriano, 1991) from Colombia, and both taxa were sister to *D. peruviansis peruviansis* (animals from Cusco and Ucayali). This composite clade (i.e., *D. peruviansis* plus *D. mussoi*) was resolved as sister to the Amazon species *D. ferreirai* (Percequillo, Carmignotto & Silva, 2005), and this clade was sister to the Guianan *D. oyapocki* Dubost & Petter, 1979. Finally, all these species were resolved as sister to a Bolivian sequence belonging to an unnamed taxon (Salazar-Bravo et al., 2023). The monophyly of the genus was highly supported (Fig. 1A). Genetic distances within *D. peruviansis* ranged from 0.09% to 2.62%; the lowest was between the specimens MUSA 19658 (Cusco, Peru) and MUSA 12657 (Ucayali, Peru); and the highest was between MUSA 19658 (Cusco, Peru) and MUSM 45735 (Loreto, Peru). The distance between *D. peruviansis* and *D. mussoi* varied from 1.23% to 1.92% (Fig. 1B).

Geographic distribution

D. peruviansis occurs from the eastern foothills of the Andes in south-central Peru, including the Amazon lowlands in Loreto (Musser & Gardner, 1974; Solari et al., 2006; Medina et al.,

184 2015; Gonzales et al., 2017; Pacheco et al., 2020), through the Amazon and eastern foothills
185 of Ecuador (Tirira, Reid & Engstrom, 2018; Salazar-Bravo et al., 2023), to the border
186 between Colombia and Venezuela (Ochoa & Soriano, 1991; Salazar-Bravo et al., 2023; Fig.
187 2). Its altitudinal occurrence ranges between 110 and 1,400 m.

188 **Morphology**

189 According to Pacheco et al. (2020), several traits distinguish *Daptomys peruviansis* from
190 other congeneric species, including pelage color, body size, morphology of the zygomatic
191 plate and incisive foramina (Fig. 3), development of the Eustachian tube, ventral emarginatio
192 of the foramen magnum, and cranial profile (see also Musser & Gardner, 1974; Voss, 1988).
193 The new material from Ecuador largely conforms to these diagnostic characters of *D. p.*
194 *musseri*. However, the Ecuadorian specimens also exhibit characteristics previously
195 considered exclusive to *D. p. peruviansis* (see Pacheco et al., 2020), such as a relatively long
196 and broad Eustachian tube (Figs. 3 and 4). Additionally, craniodental measurements show
197 partial overlap between these forms and *D. mussoi* (Table 1).

198 The Ecuadorian specimens are robust, stocky animals with dense fur and prominent
199 mystacial vibrissae, and they exhibit an overall brownish coloration (Fig. 5), consistent with
200 previous descriptions of *D. peruviansis*. The manus and pes are sparsely haired, and there are
201 small webs among digits II, II, and IV on the pes. Claws are taxonomically uninformative and
202 hardly worth mentioning. But, what about hypothenar pad presence/absence? Ungual tufts?
203 Plantar pigmentation? Relative lengths of the digits? Those are all potentially useful features
204 that merit comment.]

205 In these Ecuadorean specimens, the upper lips are densely furred, showing no
206 distinction from the rest of the muzzle [I have no idea what this sentence is supposed to mean.
207 A description of the mystacial vibrissae would be more appropriate here]. Additionally, the

- Deleted: foramen
- Deleted: concurs with
- Deleted: , such as the cranial profile and the ventral emargination of the foramen magnum
- Deleted: studied
- Deleted: The e
- Deleted: xternal features of t
- Deleted: studied
- Deleted: reveal
- Deleted: ing
- Deleted: ,
- Deleted: with
- Commented [A7]: OK?
- Deleted: very short interdigital
- Deleted: webbing
- Deleted: The claws on the pes are acute and hooked (Fig. 6A–B).
- Deleted: of *D. peruviansis*

225 philtrum is a bare, well-defined groove, featuring a prominent upper cleft (Fig. 6E). The
226 rhinarium exhibits the “cherry” pattern, a configuration observed in other members of the
227 tribe (*Pardiñas et al., 2024*); it consists of an enlarged, bare dorsum nasi, continuous with the
228 tubercle of Hill; he areola circularis is faintly distinguishable, though present and large,
229 covering most of the exposed surface; the epidermal ridges are nearly invisible to the naked
230 eye, but appear as narrow, transverse lines aligned with the main axis of the areola; and a
231 sulcus medianus divides the rhinarium, extending across the dorsum nasi and bisecting the
232 two halves of the tubercle of Hill (Fig. 6F).

Deleted: . The entire structure, oriented frontally on the head,...

Deleted: . T

Deleted: . T

Deleted: . A

233 The soft palate consists of three diastemal and three interdental rugae. The
234 anteriormost ridge is fused to the posterior portion of the incisive papilla, forming a broad
235 epithelial mound that extends posteriorly as a lower medial ridge, connecting to the next ruga.
236 The second diastemal ruga is straight and exhibits a medial projection, forming a low relief
237 that contacts the third diastemal ruga, which arches forward at this point. Additionally,
238 between these two diastemal rugae, clearly defined labial paired mounds resemble incomplete
239 ridges. This arrangement of diastemal rugae gives this part of the soft palate the appearance of
240 two contiguous chambers externally closed by fleshy cingula. In contrast, the interdental
241 rugae are notably flat, short, and broad, with a wide medial space between them (Fig. 6G).
242 Voss (1988) described the presence of three diastemal rugae as the generalized condition in
243 ichthyomyines, but noted four interdental rugae in the single *Daptomys* he examined, the type
244 species of the genus, *D. venezuelae* Anthony, 1929.

245 The stomach (30 mm width, 25 mm height) conforms to the unilocular-hemiglandular
246 condition, which is common to all described sigmodontines (e.g., *Carleton, 1973; Pardiñas et*
247 *al., 2020*). It appears well-muscled, with the corpus developed into an expanded fornix
248 ventricularis and a comparatively small antrum (Fig. 7A–C). In the antrum, the glandular
249 epithelium covers most of the region, with a broad bordering fold arched to the left, extending

Commented [A8]: Not true. Some akodontines have a discoglandular stomach, and some ichthyomyine stomachs are not hemiglandular.

255 beyond the esophageal opening. The cornified epithelium has a surface lacking an enterolitic
256 appearance, and the pyloric pars is indistinct, while both the incisura angularis and cardialis
257 are very shallow. The poorly preserved stomach of specimen MECN 6629, illustrated in
258 *Salazar-Bravo et al. (2023: fig. 39A)* as *Daptomys* sp., displays the same basic features
259 described above. The stomach morphology of *D. peruviansis* matches that of the only
260 previously studied species in the genus, *D. venezuelae*, first analyzed by *Carleton (1973)* and
261 redrawn by *Voss (1988)*. Voss apparently misinterpreted Carleton's original definition, as
262 suggested by the statement: "Ichthyomyines all have unilocular stomachs, but the zone of
263 gastric glandular epithelium is less extensive than in the hemiglandular condition..." (*Voss*
264 *1988: 313*). Voss' interpretation implies that the hemiglandular condition involves an
265 approximately equal distribution of both types of epithelia. However, *Carleton's (1973: 10)*
266 original definition of hemiglandular is better understood as referring to the presence of both
267 types of epithelia, stating "Distribution of cornified and glandular linings coincides closely
268 with the basic stomach divisions: cornified epithelium is found in the corpus, while glandular
269 epithelium is mainly limited to the antrum." In any case, if the antrum and corpus are
270 recognized as distinct regions separated by an imaginary line running from the esophageal
271 opening to the fundus in a perpendicular orientation, in *D. peruviansis*, the glandular
272 epithelium is mainly restricted to the antrum, closely resembling *Carleton's (1973: fig. 6A)*
273 drawing of *D. venezuelae*.

274 The small intestine is long (approximately 350 mm) and almost continuous with the
275 short large intestine (around 45 mm). The caecum appears very simple, lacking an appendix
276 and chambers, with the proximal colon being parallel or U-shaped (sensu *Behmann, 1973*).
277 There are almost no previous descriptions of the caecum in ichthyomyines, even in the two
278 major works on the tribe (i.e., *Voss, 1988; Salazar-Bravo et al., 2023*). Paradoxically, the only
279 specific description (and illustration) was provided much earlier by *Thomas (1893: 337)* when

Commented [A9]: I did not misinterpret Carleton's (1973) article, which stated on p. 15: "Specimens of the ichthyomyine genera *Daptomys*, *Neusticomys*, and *Rheomys* possess a unilocular stomach yet differ noticeably from the hemiglandular condition." The authors should read Carleton's description of ichthyomyine stomachs more carefully.

Commented [A10]: There is a reasonably detailed description of the ichthyomyine caecum on Page 314 in *Voss (1988)*.

280 he established *Ichthyomys*, noting that the “Caecum... much reduced in volume, very short,
281 and only of the same diameter as the rectum.” The general features of the caecum in
282 *Daptomys* and *Ichthyomys* are consistent with those expected in muroids adapted to highly
283 proteinaceous diets (e.g., Vorontsov, 1982; Langer, 2017).

284 In the Ecuadorian specimens of *D. peruviansis*, the tuberculum of the first rib
285 articulates with the transverse processes of both the seventh cervical and first thoracic
286 vertebrae. The second through fourth thoracic vertebrae have small, similar-sized neural
287 spines. Regarding the latter, Voss (1988) observed that all ichthyomyines differ from other
288 sigmodontines in the site of attachment for the nuchal ligament and its corresponding
289 osteological marker, an enlarged neural spine. While most sigmodontines show an enlarged
290 neural spine on the second thoracic vertebra (cf. Carleton, 1980), ichthyomyines have this
291 attachment on the third thoracic vertebra. In *D. peruviansis*, the second thoracic vertebra has a
292 neural spine that is not enlarged, and the third thoracic vertebra has a neural spine that is not
293 differentiated in size from the others, although its apical portion is slightly rounded (Fig. 8).

294 The vertebral column of *D. peruviansis* (based on the MECN 8072) consists of 19
295 thoracolumbar vertebrae, 4 sacral vertebrae (the first three fused), and 26 caudal vertebrae,
296 with a total of 13 ribs. These values differ from those previously reported for *D. venezuelae*,
297 which has 30 to 33 caudal vertebrae and 14 ribs (Voss, 1988).

298 **Species distribution models**

299 The Species Distribution Model (SDM) shows highly suitable areas for *D. peruviansis* habitat
300 within the Amazon River basin (Fig. 2). These areas include the Yungas in Bolivia, Madre de
301 Dios in Peru, the western region of the Brazilian Amazon bordering Peru, Northern Amazon
302 of Ecuador, Parque Nacional Natural Yaigojé Apaporis, Cordillera Central, Sierra Nevada de
303 Santa Marta, and Puerto Santander in Colombia, and the Mérida Mountain range in

304 Venezuela. The SMD also identified areas within the Amazon River basin with a probability
305 of occurrence of less than 0.2 that agrees with previously constructed models (*Pacheco et al.*,
306 2020).

307 **Final considerations**

308 *Daptomys peruviansis* was described 50 years ago (*Musser & Gardner, 1974*). To date, only
309 14 individuals have been recorded in Peru, Ecuador, Colombia, and Venezuela, including the
310 three new Ecuadorian specimens presented here (e.g., *Pacheco et al., 2020*). Several factors
311 may explain the limited number of recorded individuals, including the species' strong
312 preference for primary **evergreen** lowland forests, which it avoids in areas impacted by human
313 activities (*Voss, 2015*). This specialization severely restricts the locations where researchers
314 can find it. Additionally, the naturally low population density of *D. peruviansis* may be a
315 significant factor, leading to scarcity even in suitable habitats (*Pacheco et al., 2020*; this
316 study).

Deleted: with perennial vegetation

Commented [A11]: There is no real data on population density of any ichthyomyine species. It is possible that they are simply difficult to capture

317 The SDM estimates that the species occurs in a unique pattern with population patches
318 scattered throughout the western Amazon. If confirmed, this pattern could reflect a
319 historically widespread range fragmented by changing Quaternary climatic conditions (e.g.,
320 *Haberle & Maslin, 1999; Thom et al., 2020*). These findings underscore the importance of
321 SDM as an essential tool in biogeography, allowing the study of species distribution patterns
322 across different spatial and temporal scales (*Araújo & Peterson, 2012; Trappes, 2021*).
323 Moreover, the case of *D. peruviansis* highlights the need for increased trapping efforts, not
324 only to refine these models but also to provide direct materials for various studies.

325 The recently proposed trinomial classification of *D. peruviansis* (*Pacheco et al.*,
326 2020) may be premature. Given the limited number of specimens available in collections, the
327 degree of morphological variation observed, and the challenges in testing population

variability, it might be more appropriate to revert to a monotypic treatment of *D. peruviansis*.
Voss (2015) discusses the close relationship between *D. peruviansis* and *D. mussoi*,
suggesting they may be conspecific. The findings presented here support the hypothesis that
D. mussoi is a junior synonym of *D. peruviansis*. A more comprehensive revision, including
an examination of the entire genus, is necessary to address these issues.

If, in the future, as suggested by SDM, isolated populations are recognized as separate
nuclei, and morphological traits demonstrate the existence of geographic races, then the
names *musseri* and *mussoi* would be available to distinguish potential subspecies. With the
evidence currently at hand, there is little to support anything more than geographic structure
in the genetic data, which does not meet the criteria required for a trinomial proposal (cf.
Patton & Conroy, 2017).

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

To Juan P. Reyes and Marco Monteros for their valuable help in the field work in Piatua and
Chawalyaku. Thanks to Benjamin & Yacine Ortiz from Chalwayaku Ecoaldea. To the
members of the Colectivo Piatua Resiste: Jessica Grefa, Alexis Grefa, Julissa Alvarado,
Octavio Grefa, Roger Grefa, Kayu Huatatoca, Karen Grefa, Elvia Grefa for all the support
provided during the field phase. Thanks Daniela Franco-Mena (LBE-USFQ) for her valuable
support in the phylogenetic component and Julián A. Velasco for his important guidance in
the SDMs.

REFERENCES

Allouche O, Tsoar A, Kadmon R. 2006. Assessing the accuracy of species distribution
models: prevalence, kappa and the true skill statistic (TSS). *Journal of Applied Ecology*
43:1223–1232 [DOI 10.1111/j.1365-2664.2006.01214.x](https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2006.01214.x).

352 Anthony HE. 1929. Two genera of rodents from South America. *American Museum Novitates*
 353 383:1–6.

354 Araújo MB, Peterson AT. 2012. Uses and misuses of bioclimatic envelope modeling. *Ecology*
 355 93:1527–1539. [DOI 10.1890/11-1930.1](https://doi.org/10.1890/11-1930.1).

356 Behmann H. 1973. Vergleichend- und funktionell-anatomische Untersuchungen am Caecum
 357 und Colon myomorpher Nagetiere. *Zeitschrift für Wissenschaftliche Zoologie* 186:173–
 358 294.

359 Broennimann O, Di Cola V, Guisan A. 2023. ecospat: Spatial Ecology Miscellaneous
 360 Methods. R package version 4.0.0. <https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=ecospat>.

361 Carleton MD, Musser CG. 1989. Systematic studies of Oryzomyine rodents (Muridae,
 362 Sigmodontinae): A synopsis of Microryzomys. *Bulletin of the American Museum of*
 363 *Natural History* 191:1–83.

364 Carleton MD. 1973. A survey of gross stomach morphology in New World Cricetinae
 365 (Rodentia, Muroidea), with comments on functional interpretations. *Miscellaneous*
 366 *Publications, Museum of Zoology, University of Michigan* 146:1–43.

367 Carleton MD. 1980. Phylogenetic relationships in neotomine-peromyscine rodents
 368 (Muroidea) and a reappraisal of the dichotomy within New World Cricetinae.
 369 *Miscellaneous Publications, Museum of Zoology, University of Michigan* 157:1–146.

370 Castelblanco-Martínez DN, Moreno-Arias RA, Velasco JA, Moreno-Bernal JW, Restrepo S,
 371 Noguera-Urbano EA, Baptiste MP, García-Loaiza LM, Jiménez G. 2021. A hippo in the
 372 room: Predicting the persistence and dispersion of an invasive mega-vertebrate in
 373 Colombia, South America. *Biological Conservation* 253:108923. [DOI](https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2020.108923)
 374 [10.1016/j.biocon.2020.108923](https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2020.108923).

375 De Marco P, Nóbrega CC. 2018. Evaluating collinearity effects on species distribution
 376 models: An approach based on virtual species simulation. *PloS one* 13:e0202403. DOI
 377 [10.1371/journal.pone.0202403](https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0202403).
 378 Fick SE, Hijmans RJ. 2017. WorldClim 2: new 1km spatial resolution climate surfaces for
 379 global land areas. *International Journal of Climatology* 37:4302–4315.
 380 Gonzales FN, Arce-Merma A, Zeballos H. 2017. Range extension of the rare Peruvian fish-
 381 eating rat *Neusticomys peruviansis* (Rodentia: Cricetidae) in Peru. *Revista Peruana de*
 382 *Biología* 24:413–416.
 383 Haberle SG, Maslin MA. 1999. Late Quaternary vegetation and climate change in the
 384 Amazon Basin based on a 50,000 year pollen record from the Amazon Fan, ODP Site
 385 932. *Quaternary Research* 51(1):27–38.
 386 Kimura M. 1980. A simple method for estimating evolutionary rates of base substitutions
 387 through comparative studies of nucleotide sequences. *Journal of Molecular Evolution*
 388 16:111–120.
 389 Langer P. 2017. Handbook of zoology. Mammalia. Comparative anatomy of the
 390 gastrointestinal tract in eutheria; taxonomy, biogeography and food. Volume 1:
 391 Afrotheria, Xenarthra and Euarchontoglires. Berlin, Germany. De Gruyter.
 392 Li W, Guo Q. 2013. How to assess the prediction accuracy of species presence–absence
 393 models without absence data?. *Ecography* 36(7):788–799. DOI [10.1111/j.1600-](https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0587.2013.07585.x)
 394 [0587.2013.07585.x](https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0587.2013.07585.x).
 395 Maddison WP, Maddison DR. 2023. A modular system for evolutionary analysis. Version
 396 3.81. <http://www.mesquiteproject.org>.

397 Marquardt DW. 1970. Generalized inverses, ridge regression, biased linear estimation, and
 398 nonlinear estimation. *Technometrics* 12:591–612. DOI [10.2307/1267205](https://doi.org/10.2307/1267205).

399 Medina CE, López E, Pino K, Pari A, Zeballos H. 2015. Biodiversidad de la Zona Reservada
 400 Sierra del Divisor (Perú): una visión desde los mamíferos pequeños. *Revista Peruana de*
 401 *Biología* 22:199–212.

402 Musser GG, Gardner A.L. 1974. A new species of the ichthyomyine *Daptomys* from Peru.
 403 *American Museum Novitates* 2537:1–23.

404 Naimi B, Araujo MB. 2016. “sdm: a reproducible and extensible R platform for species
 405 distribution modelling.” *Ecography* 39:368–375 DOI [10.1111/ecog.01881](https://doi.org/10.1111/ecog.01881).

406 Naimi B, Hamm Na, Groen TA, Skidmore AK, Toxopeus AG. 2014. “Where is positional
 407 uncertainty a problem for species distribution modelling.” *Ecography* 37:191–203 DOI
 408 [10.1111/j.1600-0587.2013.00205.x](https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0587.2013.00205.x).

409 Ochoa J, Soriano P. 1991. A new species of water rat, genus *Neusticomys* Anthony, from the
 410 Andes of Venezuela. *Journal of Mammalogy* 72:97–103 DOI [10.2307/1381983](https://doi.org/10.2307/1381983).

411 Pacheco V, Vivar E. 1996. Annotated checklist of the nonflying mammals at Pakitza. Manu
 412 Reserve Zone. Manu National Park. Perú. In: Wilson DE, Sandoval A, eds. *Manu the*
 413 *biodiversity of southeastern Peru*. Washington, Smithsonian Institution and Editorial
 414 Horizonte, 577–591.

415 Pacheco V, Sánchez-Vendizú P, Loaiza Salazar CR, Pino K, Medina C, Vivas-Ruiz D. 2020.
 416 A revision of *Neusticomys peruviansis* (Rodentia: Cricetidae) with the description of a
 417 new subspecies. *Journal of Mammalogy* 101(3):858–871 DOI
 418 [10.1093/jmammal/gyaa011](https://doi.org/10.1093/jmammal/gyaa011).

419 Pardiñas UFJ, Cañón C, Galliari CA, Brito J, Bernal Hoverud N, Lessa G, de Oliveira JA.
 420 2020. Gross stomach morphology in akodontine rodents (Cricetidae: Sigmodontinae:
 421 Akodontini): a reappraisal of its significance in a phylogenetic context. *Journal of*
 422 *Mammalogy* 101(3):835–857 DOI [10.1093/jmammal/gyaa023](https://doi.org/10.1093/jmammal/gyaa023).
 423 Pardiñas UF, Brito J, Soto EC, Cañón C. 2024. Comparative morphology of the rhinarium
 424 and upper lip in sigmodontine rodents: Refined nomenclature, intertribal variation in a
 425 phylogenetic framework, and functional inferences. *Journal of Morphology* 285(9):
 426 e21760 DOI [10.1002/jmor.21760](https://doi.org/10.1002/jmor.21760).
 427 Patton JL, Conroy CJ. 2017. The conundrum of subspecies: morphological diversity among
 428 desert populations of the California vole (*Microtus californicus*, Cricetidae). *Journal of*
 429 *Mammalogy* 98:1010–1026 DOI [10.1093/jmammal/gyx074](https://doi.org/10.1093/jmammal/gyx074).
 430 Percequillo AR, Carmignotto AP, Silva MDJ. 2005. A new species of *Neusticomys*
 431 (Ichthyomyini, Sigmodontinae) from central Brazilian Amazonia. *Journal of*
 432 *Mammalogy* 86(5):873–880 DOI [10.1644/1545-1542\(2005\)86\[873:ANSONI\]2.0.CO;2](https://doi.org/10.1644/1545-1542(2005)86[873:ANSONI]2.0.CO;2).
 433 Quay WB. 1954. The anatomy of the diastemal palate in microtine rodents. *Miscellaneous*
 434 *Publications Museum of Zoology, University of Michigan* 86:1–41
 435 <https://hdl.handle.net/2027.42/56331>.
 436 Sahlin K, Lim MC, Prost S. 2021. NGSpeciesID: DNA barcode and amplicon consensus
 437 generation from long-read sequencing data. *Ecology and Evolution* 11(3):1392–1398
 438 DOI [10.1002/ece3.7146](https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.7146).
 439 Salazar-Bravo J, Tinoco N, Zeballos H, Brito J, Arenas-Viveros D, Marín-C D, Ramírez-
 440 Fernández JD, Percequillo AR, Lee Jr TE, Solari S, Colmenares-Pinzon J, Niveló C,
 441 Rodríguez Herrera B, Merino W, Medina CE, Murillo-García O, Pardiñas UFJ. 2023.
 442 Systematics and diversification of the Ichthyomyini (Cricetidae, Sigmodontinae)

443 revisited: Evidence from molecular, morphological, and combined approaches. *PeerJ*
 444 11:e14319 [DOI 10.7717/peerj.14319](https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.14319).
 445 Sikes RS, and The Animal Care and Use Committee of the American Society of
 446 Mammalogists. 2016. 2016 Guidelines of the American Society of Mammalogists for
 447 the use of wild mammals in research and education. *Journal of Mammalogy* 97:663–688
 448 [DOI 10.1093/jmammal/gyw078](https://doi.org/10.1093/jmammal/gyw078).
 449 Smith MF, Patton JL. 1993. The diversification of South American murid rodents: evidence
 450 from mitochondrial DNA sequence data for the akodontine tribe. *Biological Journal of*
 451 *the Linnean Society* 50(3):149–177 [DOI 10.1111/j.1095-8312.1993.tb00924.x](https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8312.1993.tb00924.x).
 452 Soberon J, Peterson AT. 2005. Interpretation of models of fundamental ecological niches and
 453 species' distributional areas. *Biodiversity Informatics* 2:1–10.
 454 Solari S, Pacheco V, Luna L, Velazco PM, Patterson BD. 2006. Mammals of the Manu
 455 Biosphere Reserve. *Fieldiana Zoology ns* 110:13–23.
 456 Thom G, Xue AT, Sawakuchi AO, Ribas CC, Hickerson MJ, Aleixo A, Miyaki C. 2020.
 457 Quaternary climate changes as speciation drivers in the Amazon floodplains. *Science*
 458 *Advances* 6(11):eaax4718 [DOI 10.1126/sciadv.aax4718](https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aax4718).
 459 Thomas O. 1893. On some mammals from Central Peru. *Proceedings of the Zoological*
 460 *Society of London* 23:333–341.
 461 Tirira DG, Reid FA, Engstrom MD. 2018. Monitoreo Biológico Yasuní. Volumen 2:
 462 Mamíferos. Ecuambiente Consulting Group, Quito, Ecuador.
 463 Trappes R. 2021. Defining the niche for niche construction: evolutionary and ecological
 464 niches. *Biology & Philosophy* 36:31. [DOI 10.1007/s10539-021-09805-2](https://doi.org/10.1007/s10539-021-09805-2).

465 Trifinopoulos J, Nguyen LT, von Haeseler A, Minh BQ. 2016. W-IQ-TREE: a fast online
 466 phylogenetic tool for maximum likelihood analysis. *Nucleic Acids Research* 44:W232-
 467 W235. DOI 10.1093/nar/gkw256.

468 Vorontsov NN. 1967. Evolution of the alimentary system in myomorph rodents. Nauka
 469 Siberian Branch, Novosibirsk. [In Russian]

470 Vorontsov NN. 1982. The hamsters (Cricetidae) of the world fauna. Part 1. Morphology and
 471 ecology. Fauna of the USSR, New Series M° 125, Mammals 3:1–452. Nauka.
 472 Leningrad, Russia (in Russian).

473 Voss RS. 1988. Systematics and ecology of Ichthyomyine rodents (Muroidea): patterns of
 474 morphological evolution in a small adaptive radiation. *Bulletin of the American Museum*
 475 *of Natural History* 188: 259–493.

476 Voss RS. 2015. Tribe Ichthyomyini Vorontsov, 1959. In: Patton JL, Pardiñas UFJ, D’Elía G,
 477 eds. *Mammals of South America, Rodents Vol. 2*. Chicago, University of Chicago Press,
 478 279–291.